SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 82,333 LT CASE NO. 82-352-CF-B (Martin County)

ALPHONSO CAVE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 29 1994

CLERK, SURREME COURT

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA (Criminal Division)

> Jeffrey H. Garland, Esquire Florida Bar No. 320765 Kirschner & Garland, P.A. 102 North Second Street Fort Pierce, Florida 34950 (407) 489-2200 Counsel for Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

- 1. State of Florida Plaintiff/Appellee

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

ALPHONSO CAVE is the Appellant. The Appellant will also be referred to by name or as the "Defendant". The State of Florida is the Appellee and will also be referred to as the "State".

This is an appeal from a Final Judgment imposing the death penalty entered by acting Circuit Judge Thomas J. Walsh (R1579-82).

The symbol "R", followed by the page number, will refer to the documentary portion of the record on appeal.

The symbol "T", followed by the page number, will refer to the transcript portion of the record on appeal. The transcripts appear in Volumes XV - XXIII.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS <u>A. PRE-TRIAL MATTERS</u>

The United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida entered a habeas corpus order vacating the sentence of death and requiring a new sentencing hearing. The District Court's decision was affirmed on appeal and this resentencing follows. *See Cave v. Singletary*, 971 F.2d 1513 (11th Cir. 1992).

FAILURE TO HOLD RESENTENCING WITHIN 90 DAYS

On August 3, 1990, the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida entered an Order vacating the sentence of death and requiring that a new sentencing hearing be afforded within ninety days of the entry of the Order (R415-16). Although the State appealed, the State failed to obtain a stay of the habeas corpus order until September 25, 1990 (R427), by which time fifty-three days had elapsed. In due course, the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court's Order. <u>Cave v.</u> <u>Singletary</u>, *supra*.

On October 22, 1992, Judge Walsh conducted a status hearing in Martin County at which the Public Defender's Office was present, but the Defendant was not (R33, 1145-52, 1179). Having received a copy of the 11th Circuit's Mandate, Judge Walsh scheduled the resentencing "for trial within the mandated time period" on November 30, 1992 (R33, 34, 1148-49).

On November 17, 1992, the Public Defender's Office moved to continue the

resentencing hearing (R37-8). Judge Walsh entered an Order continuing the resentencing until April 26, 1993 (R44). No hearing was held and the Defendant did not "sign off" on the Public Defender's Motion.

On December 16, 1992, the Public Defender's Office moved to withdraw (R49-50). The motion was heard on January 14, 1993 at which the Defendant was present. Judge Walsh granted the Motion To Withdraw, and specially appointed private counsel (T1022-25, R55-6).

On February 8, 1993, Judge Walsh rescheduled the resentencing date for May 3, 1993 at the request of the State (R69-70).

On April 12, 1993, the Defendant presented his motion to vacate the death penalty based upon the failure to hold a new sentencing hearing within ninety days as ordered by the federal court (R404-27, 1152-85). Submitted as an exhibit at the hearing was a copy of the 11th Circuit's Mandate issued September 17, 1992 (R1154-55, 1179) which was received and docketed by the Clerk of the United States District Court on September 21, 1992 (R1164-65). Although the prosecutor conceded that the ninety day period ran on October 28, 1992 (R1166), the trial court denied the motion (R1183-84).

MOTION FOR DISQUALIFICATION OF JUDGE

Over the objection of the Defendant (T1098-99, 1107-08), the Court accepted evidence in rebuttal to the allegations contained in the Defendant's Motion For Disqualification of Judge (T1108-09, R303-13).

The witnesses established that, in April, 1982, Thomas Walsh was a felony prosecutor in the Fort Pierce office. At that time, there were four felony prosecutors, one

3

juvenile prosecutor, a consumer protection advocate, and two or three misdemeanor prosecutors (T1111-14). Attorneys were encouraged to consult and to assist each other (T1116).

The four felony prosecutors were located in the same area and they shared secretaries who worked in a single, common area. The entire office shared a single reception area, library and lunch room (T1114-15).

There was no effort to screen Walsh either from the prosecutors assigned to the "Slater" murder or from the witnesses connected with the prosecution (T1119-20). Although the witnesses¹ denied personally discussing the Slater prosecution in the presence of Walsh, the evidence did not establish that Walsh had no contact with other persons or evidence associated with the case (T1125, 1127-29, 1147-48, 1158, 1162-63, R1722-24).

The principal Slater case prosecutors were James Midelis and Robert Stone, both of whom worked out of the Fort Pierce office (T1126-27). The main case file was kept in Midelis' office (T1132-33). Both Midelis and Stone continued to work on matters associated with the Slater prosecution until Stone resigned in 1985 and until Midelis became a County Judge in 1986 (T1126-27, 1140-41, R1722-24). Walsh continued to work at the Fort Pierce office until becoming a county judge in 1989.

Although Midelis could not recall whether he handled non-capital felonies in 1982 and 1983, the Defendant's rebuttal evidence showed that Midelis maintained an active noncapital caseload. *See* Defendant's Exhibits 1-17 (T1166-92, R1725-1875). In fact, Midelis

¹ The witnesses were Bruce Colton, James Midelis, Thomas Ranew, David Powers, Richard Barlow and Robert Stone (by affidavit). The murder prosecutions of all four Defendants were collectively referred to as the "Slater" case, a reference to the victim's last name.

co-prosecuted a three week trial with Walsh in January-February, 1984 (T1152-53).

The disqualification motion was denied (T1196, R540).

CONSTITUTIONAL OBJECTIONS

On March 26, 1993, the trial Court heard and denied Defendant's pre-trial Motions #1-14 (T2464-81, R339-41, 291). These motions dealt with procedural and constitutional attacks on the death penalty statute and the standard jury instructions.

PSYCHOLOGICAL ISSUES

On February 24, 1993, the State's motion for psychiatric/psychological examinations was granted over the Defendant's numerous objections (T1052-54, R72-79).

On March 31, 1993, the State's motion to require the Defendant to list witness was heard (R284-86). The State sought to compel the Defendant to list Dr. Sheldon Rifkin as a witness so that his deposition could be taken (T1077-80). The Defendant responded by requesting ore tenus for the appointment of a confidential psychologist with no previous connection to the case (T1081-89).

The trial Court found that Dr. Rifkin was no longer a confidential expert due to his testimony in post-conviction proceedings. The trial Court took notice of the entire court file, including the post-conviction relief hearing that took place in June, 1988, and the report of Dr. Rifkin that was admitted at the post-conviction proceeding as Exhibit "4" (T1089-92).

Although the defense was not ordered to list Dr. Rifkin as a witness, the trial court imposed a timetable of the "next couple of days" during which the defense must decide whether Dr. Rifkin will re-examine the Defendant. The Defendant renewed his request for a new and different confidential expert to determine the existence of mental status mitigators. The trial court specifically ruled that the State has a right to be present for any psychological examination of the Defendant by Dr. Rifkin (T1092-96, 2500-01).

On April 1, 1993, the Defendant's Motion For Appointment of Confidential Defense Psychologist was heard (R317-19). In opposition to the defense request for a confidential examination, Dr. Greg Landrum, a clinical psychologist, testified that the presence of a prosecutor would not interfere with a non-confidential assessment, but he conceded that it may interfere with a "confidential" examination (T1209, 1216-18). Dr. Landrum agreed that the facts surrounding a capital case are a normal part of the questioning process in order to determine the mental state of the accused at the time of the offense. He said that the only time he would not question a capital defendant about the facts of the case would be if the assessment was purely to determine competency to stand trial (T1218-19).

Judge Walsh denied the request for a confidential defense psychologist (T1221). Only after the denial of this request did the Defendant request the appointment of Dr. Rifkin to re-examine the Defendant as a non-confidential expert (T1222).

On April 16, 1993, the State's designated psychiatrist, Dr. McKinley Cheshire, commenced the examination compelled by order of the Court dated March 3, 1993 (R259-61). Because the Defendant refused to answer questions from Dr. Cheshire regarding all events from April 25, 1982 through May 5, 1982 (including another robbery occurring just hours before the instant homicide), an aggravated battery occurring in the jail, and a rape charge in Pennsylvania (T1244), the State filed a Motion For Emergency Hearing seeking to compel the Defendant to cooperate (R347-61).

6

The State suggested that an examination by Dr. Cheshire should be compelled in order to rebut the expert witnesses listed by the defense, Dr. Rifkin and Dr. Harry Krop (T1245-46). At the motion hearing, the trial court reviewed Dr. Krop's 1988 report and the transcript of previous testimony given by Dr. Krop at the Defendant's post-conviction relief proceeding conducted on June 17 and 21, 1988 (T1246-47). If the Defendant continued to remain silent, the State asked the trial court to strike any defense expert testimony concerning mental mitigators (T1248-49).

Dr. Cheshire testified that he conducted part of an examination of the Defendant on April 16, 1993 at the St. Lucie County Jail, but that that Defendant refused to answer questions concerning the specified areas on the basis of the 5th Amendment (T1263-71). Dr. Cheshire testified that it is important and necessary for him to question the Defendant regarding the circumstances surrounding the murder in order to evaluate the existence of aggravating and mitigating factors (T1263-71).

Dr. Cheshire admitted that it is not necessary to interview a defendant in order to reach a conclusion regarding the presence or absence of mitigating facts (T1275-76); and that he is capable of rendering an opinion without actually interviewing an accused (T1277-80).

Judge Walsh ordered the Defendant as follows:

[T]o answer all questions proffered by Dr. Cheshire related to the facts and circumstances surrounding the dates of April 25 through and including May 5, 1982, as well as answer all questions regarding specific facts of any other criminal acts or arrests or convictions including an alleged prior rape arrest, conviction, or accusation, and an aggravated battery case alleged to have occurred in the Martin County Jail, and any other robberies that may have occurred or are alleged to have occurred on the night in question or any time in between April 25, 1982, and May 5, 1982.

(T1280-81).

Judge Walsh said the Defendant would be ordered to show cause why he should not be held in direct criminal contempt if he continued to refuse to answer questions propounded by Dr. Cheshire (T1282-84). After the conclusion of the April 16, 1993 hearing, Dr. Cheshire resumed his attempts to examine the Defendant relative to the areas ordered by Judge Walsh. The Defendant, invoking his right to remain silent, refused to discuss these matters. Consequently, the hearing on the State's Motion For Emergency Hearing resumed on April 19, 1993 (T1285-1318).

In open court, Judge Walsh directed the Defendant to talk with the State's psychiatrist and, "answer all his questions" (T1297-98). Invoking his right to remain silent, the Defendant refused to discuss the specified areas with Dr. Cheshire. The trial court found the Defendant in direct criminal contempt because the refusal occurred in open court and because the previous refusal to answer questions, although occurring outside the presence of the court, was admitted into testimony (T1298-99). The trial court sentenced the Defendant to five (5) months and twenty-eight (28) days in the county jail consecutive to any other sentence (T1300-01; R430-34). However, the conviction and sentence were subsequently set aside by Judge Walsh after the sentence of death was imposed (T1544).

Judge Walsh allowed the scheduled examination of the Defendant by Dr. Rifkin to take place, but warned that the Defendant's mental health experts would be excluded (T1302) if the scope of Dr. Rifkin's examination was limited in the same way that Dr. Cheshire's was (T1309-10). Judge Walsh reserved the right to impose additional sanctions and ordered, over objection, Dr. Rifkin's examination of the Defendant to be tape recorded (T1311-16).

On April 23, 1993, the trial court resumed the hearing on what sanctions to impose for the Defendant's refusal to answer questions. The trial court was advised that Dr. Rifkin's April 19, 1993 examination was restricted in the same manner as Dr. Cheshire's had been; and that on April 20, 1993, the prosecutor deposed Dr. Rifkin for approximately seven (7) hours (T1386, R701-952) during which the Defendant objected to questions concerning the same prohibited areas and limited Dr. Rifkin from answering (T1321-22). Dr. Rifkin acknowledged that he utilized Dr. Krop's May 23, 1988 report in conducting his evaluation of the Defendant (T1328).

Both Dr. Krop's 1988 report and his testimony at the June, 1988 post-conviction relief proceeding were introduced into evidence (T1328-31; R1876-82).

Dr. Rifkin's Testimony

The defense called Dr. Rifkin to testify and he was recognized as an expert in the area of clinical psychology. He examined the Defendant in 1982; reviewed Dr. Krop's 1988 report; and re-examined the Defendant on April 19, 1993. Dr. Rifkin testified that the Defendant has consistently been found to have an I.Q. of 70-80, which is the borderline range of intellectual abilities (T1340-42, 1350). Although Dr. Rifkin had diagnosed the Defendant in 1982 as having an "anti-social personality disorder in an individual who is demonstrating borderline intellectual functioning and a possible residual learning disability", he has changed that opinion, in part, on the basis of Dr. Krop's 1988 evaluation and report (T1344-45). Dr. Rifkin testified that he reconsidered his 1982 diagnosis when

he was called upon to give a deposition in November, 1988 (T1346). During the interim between 1982 and 1988, Dr. Rifkin had not personally re-evaluated the Defendant, but had gained access to additional information through Dr. Krop's report. Dr. Rifkin considered access to that information to be important. He agreed that a psychologist should have complete access to the Defendant's thinking both during the crime, immediately before the crime, and after the commission of the crime in order to have a thorough examination (T1347-48). Dr. Rifkin acknowledged that he was not permitted to question the Defendant regarding the specified areas during the April 19, 1993 examination (T1349).

In 1982, Dr. Rifkin had been appointed as a confidential defense expert. During the 1982 evaluation, Dr. Rifkin attempted to question the Defendant regarding the facts of the case, including activities before and after the homicide, but the Defendant refused to discuss those matters. Dr. Rifkin said that he could disregard all aspects of Dr. Krop's report, but that he would be unable to form an opinion regarding mitigating factors except with regard to intellectual ability (T1372-74).

Dr. Krop's Report and 1988 Testimony

In the report and the 1988 testimony which were admitted into evidence (T1328-31, R1877-82), Dr. Krop, a psychologist, described interviewing the Defendant on May 20, 1988 at Florida State Prison. After a standard battery of psychological tests was administered, the Defendant described the circumstances surrounding the robbery. He claimed that he had been drinking gin and smoking marijuana throughout the night before committing the robbery leading the victim's death. The Defendant said that he believed that the girl would be released unhurt. Although the Defendant said he did not see the actual stabbing, he saw

Bush hold up a bloody knife. He said that another co-defendant shot the victim.

The Defendant admitted beginning to use alcohol at the age of 17 and to heavy use beginning in his early 20's; and said that he began using marijuana in the 9th grade, then subsequently experimented with heroin, THC, cocaine, and other pills.

Dr. Krop established the Defendant's full scale I.Q. at 72. He said that the Defendant expressed considerable remorse for the victim and how his conviction affected his own family; said that the Defendant's "personality profile does not reflect any anti-social tendencies and his evaluation is inconsistent with any violent propensities"; described the Defendant as a "passive, non-assertive individual with limited intellectual functioning"; and concluded that the Defendant's involvement was caused, in part, by his intoxicated state. He described the Defendant as "excellent candidate for rehabilitation". The 1988 testimony essentially restates the report.

The Sanctions

Judge Walsh granted the State's request for sanctions (R441-44). Striking the testimony of Dr. Krop on all matters proffered, Judge Walsh specifically said that he had reviewed the testimony given by Dr. Krop at the post-conviction relief hearing and the report. As to Dr. Rifkin, Judge Walsh excluded all testimony except as to intellectual ability. He restricted Rifkin from relying, in any way, upon the report, impressions, or deposition of Dr. Krop (T1383-85).

B. THE RESENTENCING

The trial commenced in Pinellas County on May 3, 1993. Over the Defendant's pre-

trial objection (R478-80, 1329) and a renewed objection at trial (T13), the trial court, in giving the preliminary instructions to the jury, advised that the Defendant had been previously found guilty of Count I, charging first degree murder, then read from the Indictment that the Defendant did "unlawfully from a premeditated design to affect the death of a human being, kill and murder Frances Julia Slater" (T4-5).

After the jury was sworn, the Defendant presented his objections to the Florida Standard Jury Instructions and proposed modifications (R562-82, T227-32). The Court denied the Defendant's special requested preliminary instruction (T230-31).

During the course of the State's opening argument (T237-57), the prosecutor said "and after the Defendant heard the statement of John Earl Bush he too confessed to the murder, the kidnapping and robbery". The Defendant timely objected on *Bruton* grounds, moved for mistrial, and for a curative instruction. The trial court denied the Motion For Mistrial, but instructed the jury to disregard "any reference that was made in regard to what any other person said" (T249-51).

STATE'S EVIDENCE

On the evening of April 26, 1982, the victim, Frances Julia Slater, appeared for her 11p.m. to 7a.m. shift. At the time of shift change, the cash register was balanced and a deposit was dropped into a floor safe (T439-41, 456).

Because the victim was scheduled to work the midnight shift alone, the store manager visited the store between 2:00-2:20a.m. (on April 27, 1982) (T456). A Stuart policewoman observed Slater sweeping the floor at 2:15 a.m. (T472-75).

At approximately 2:30 a.m., Danielle Symonds (Girouard) left her home for the

purpose of delivering newspapers. As she lived a short distance away, she arrived at the intersection in front of the convenience store shortly after leaving home. While stopped at a stoplight, Symonds had a clear view into the convenience store. She observed a vehicle in front of the convenience store and three black men in the store, but did not see a clerk. She saw another man sitting in the backseat of the car on the passenger side. After the light turned green, Symonds stopped at a gas station and noticed it was 3:00 a.m. (T464-71).

At approximately 3:00 a.m., Mark Hall entered the convenience store and found it completely empty. Observing that the cash register was open, he called out for the attendant several times, then called the police. He was in the store 2-3 minutes before calling the police (T446-49).

Police officer Margaret Schwarz was dispatched to the store at 3:04 a.m., and arrived at 3:05 a.m. in response to a call from Mark Hall. After speaking with Hall, Schwarz went into the store and observed the open cash register drawer and the open safe (T475-82). After being notified that the clerk was missing, the store manager returned to the store. The manager determined that \$134.00 was missing (T451-57).

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