IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 20 19951

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By ______ Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 82,333

VS.

ALPHONSO CAVE,

- <u>1</u>

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Appellant,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - Although the State challenged the factual allegations in Appellant's motion to disqualify the judge, the trial court did not pass on the truth of the facts alleged, and the State's evidence and argument should not be imputed to the trial court. The trial court properly found the motion legally insufficient.

Issue II - Appellant had already had the benefit of two confidential mental health experts; thus, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in refusing to appoint a third. Even if error, it was harmless given that Appellant was precluded from presenting mental mitigation because he refused to allow the State's expert to examine him. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in allowing the State's expert to examine Appellant in order to rebut potential mental mitigation. When Appellant refused to answer the expert's questions, the trial court properly ruled that Appellant could not offer mental mitigating evidence. Given that Appellant's expert was appointed on a nonconfidential basis, it was not error to allow the State to be present during the examination.

Issue III - Defense counsel requested only the catchall mitigating factor instruction and presented no evidence relating to any other mitigating factor; thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in not instructing the jury on all the mitigating factors.

Issue IV - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in restricting defense counsel's cross-examination of Michael Bryant
and direct examination of David Phoebus because defense counsel was trying to improperly impeach these or other witnesses. Even if it did err, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue V - The prosecutor's and a state witness' reference to Bush's confession did not constitute a <u>Bruton</u> violation since the substance of the statement was not admitted, and since neither reference indicated that Bush implicated Appellant in the robbery/murder. Even if they were error, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VI - Although the jury was given the unconstitutional CCP instruction, the evidence established all four elements of this aggravating factor; thus, any error in giving the unconstitutional instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VII - The federal district court had no authority to order the imposition of a life sentence were Appellant not resentenced within a 90-day period. Its conditional grant of the writ was merely a custody order. Regardless, the trial court commenced the proceedings within the appropriate time period, but Appellant moved for a five-month continuance. Thus, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to impose a life sentence.

Issue VIII - The State's videotaped reenactment of the victim's seventeen-minute "death ride" was relevant to prove several of the aggravating factors, and its relevance was not outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Even if it were admitted in error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue IX - Evidence that Appellant's son had died just prior

to the resentencing was not relevant to Appellant's character or prior record; thus, the trial court did not err in excluding it. Even if it were error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue X - Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the trial court considered all of his nonstatutory mitigation. Even if it did not, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different had it done so.

Issue XI - As discussed in Issue VI, the record supports the trial court's finding of the CCP aggravating factor.

Issue XII - The record fully supports the trial court's finding of the HAC aggravating factor. Even if it does not, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different without it.

Issue XIII - The record fully supports the trial court's finding of the "avoid arrest" aggravating factor. Even if it does not, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different without it.

Issue XIV - The record fully supports the trial court's finding of the "pecuniary gain" aggravating factor. Even if it does not, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different without it.

Issue XV - This Court has previously found the amended HAC instruction, which was given in this case, constitutional.

Issue XVI - This Court has previously found the "avoid arrest" instruction constitutional.

Issue XVII - This Court has previously found the "pecuniary gain" instruction constitutional.

Issue XVIII - The record fully supports the trial court's factual finding that the victim's hair was forcibly removed either by herself or by one of the defendants pulling her out of the car by her hair. Even if it does not, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different.

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISQUALIFICATION OF JUDGE (Restated).

On March 31, 1993, defense counsel filed a motion to recuse Judge Walsh from the case. In this motion, counsel alleged that Judge Walsh was an assistant state attorney in the Fort Pierce office when Cave, Bush, Parker and Johnson were tried originally, that the felony division was small, that he had an office on the same hall as the lead prosecutors, that he shared secretaries with the lead prosecutors, and that the investigators working on the four cases were also in the same building. (R 304-05). As a result, Appellant feared that he would not receive a fair trial because information that may not be presented at the resentencing "may have come to [Judge Walsh's] attention" and "may affect or tend to affect the decision making process of the Court." (R 305). To support this speculative assertion, Appellant relied on his belief that "attorneys within the St. Lucie County felony division did regularly consult with one another for opinions, perspectives, current case law and advice." (R 305). Thus, because of Judge Walsh's physical proximity to the prosecutors and investigators working on Appellant's case and the "collegial nature of the practice of law," there was "an appearance of impropriety" which justified Appellant's fear of prejudice or bias. (R 305-06).

In response, the State argued at a hearing on the motion that no reasonable person, given the true facts, would fear that they could not receive a fair trial. To support their argument, the State offered the testimony of Bruce Colton, the chief assistant

state attorney in the Fort Pierce office during the original trial; James Midelis, one of the lead prosecutors, who is now a county court judge; Tom Ranew, the lead investigator for the State Attorney's Office; David Powers, the supervisory detective for the Martin County Sheriff's Office; and Rick Barlow, the assistant state attorney who defended the State in Appellant's postconviction proceedings. (T 1096-97, 1100-07).

Mr. Colton testified that now-Judge Walsh was an assistant state attorney in the Fort Pierce office, but was not involved in prosecuting Appellant during his original trial and was not involved in any pretrial preparation. Mr. Colton was also not aware of any conversations regarding the case between Judge Walsh and either of the lead prosecutors. At that time, Judge Walsh was one of the least experienced prosecutors in the office and James Midelis, one of the lead prosecutors in Appellant's case, was one of the most experienced; thus, it would have been unlikely that Midelis would have sought advice from him regarding the case. (T 1110-12, 1120).

James Midelis testified that he never discussed the case with Judge Walsh. Moreover, most of the pretrial preparation was done in Martin County, and all four defendants were tried outside of St. Lucie County. Since Judge Walsh prosecuted cases exclusively in St. Lucie County, he would not have been present during the preparation and prosecution of the cases. Moreover, the investigators worked out of a separate building. (T 1126-35).

Over defense counsel's objection, the State presented an affidavit by Robert Stone. Mr. Stone averred that he and James

Midelis were the lead prosecutors on Appellant's case. Judge Walsh did not participate in any way, nor did anyone consult Judge Walsh about any matters relating to Appellant's case. (T 1141-42).

Tom Ranew testified that he was the lead investigator for the State Attorney's Office and worked out of the Martin County office. He did not talk to Judge Walsh about the case or ask him to do anything related to the case. All of the pretrial preparation was conducted out of the Martin County office. (T 1145-47).

David Powers then testified that he supervised the detectives in the Martin County Sheriff's Office during the investigation of the case. Judge Walsh was not present during any of the pretrial meetings and did not participate in the investigation. (T 1155-60).

Finally, Rick Barlow testified that he defended the State in the postconviction proceedings of Cave, Parker, and Bush. To his knowledge, Judge Walsh did not participate in any way in those cases during that time. (T 1161-63).

Defense counsel argued that, not only was the motion legally sufficient on its face, but the State's presentation of evidence required recusal. (T 1192-93). The State responded, however, that it presented evidence solely to show that a reasonable person with all of the facts would not fear bias or prejudice by the judge. (T 1193-96). Thereafter, the trial court ruled that the motion was legally insufficient. (T 1196; R 540).

In this appeal, Appellant renews his argument that, by allowing the presentation of evidence by the State, disqualification was required. In the alternative, Appellant

maintains that the motion was legally sufficient on its face and should have been granted. Thus, Appellant seeks a new sentencing hearing. **Brief of Appellant** at 46-49.

As this Court has previously stated, the purpose of the disqualification rule is "to ensure public confidence in the integrity of the judicial system as well as to prevent the disqualification process from being abused for the purposes of judge-shopping, delay, or some other reason not related to providing for the fairness and impartiality of the proceeding." Livingston v. State, 441 So.2d 1083, 1086 (Fla. 1983). Thus, a defendant must show "a factual foundation for the alleged fear of prejudice. The movant's subjective fears are not sufficient." <u>Jernigan v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Without passing on the truth of the allegations, the trial court must then determine "whether the facts alleged would place a reasonably prudent person in fear of not receiving a fair and impartial trial." <u>Id.</u> at 1087.

Here, the trial court properly determined that Appellant's allegations failed to meet the objective test required by law. Although <u>the prosecutor</u> challenged Appellant's factual allegations by presenting the testimony of several witnesses, "[t]he state's improper response to the facts [should] not be imputed to the judge." <u>Chastine v. Broome</u>, 629 So.2d 293, 294 n.1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). <u>See also Randolph v. State</u>, 626 So.2d 1006 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) ("The prosecutor's comments . . . should not be attributed to the trial judge."). As in <u>Randolph</u>, the trial judge denied the motion to recuse without comment, and thus did not create "an

adversary atmosphere" with Appellant. 626 So.2d at 1008. In fact, nothing in the record indicates that Judge Walsh in any way passed on the truth of the facts alleged by Appellant. Thus, reversal is not mandated simply because the State challenged Appellant's factual allegations.

As for the merits of the motion, the trial court properly found the motion legally insufficient. Taking the facts alleged as true, no reasonably prudent person would fear that Judge Walsh would not fairly and impartially hear Appellant's case. Appellant's allegations were based solely on conjecture and supposition. He made no allegation that Judge Walsh was, in fact, involved with his, or his codefendants', original prosecutions and/or collateral proceedings. Nor did he allege that Judge Walsh, in fact, possessed otherwise inadmissible information. Rather, he alleged only "an appearance of impropriety" based on his belief that information that may not be presented at the resentencing "may have come to [Judge Walsh's] attention" and "may affect or tend to affect the decision making process of the Court." (R 305) (emphasis added). The entire basis for such an allegation was Appellant's assumption that the attorneys prosecuting Appellant's case discussed the case with him and/or sought advice from him. Such a speculative allegation would not lead a reasonably prudent person to fear that Judge Walsh would not be fair and impartial. State ex rel. Shelton v. Sepe, 254 So.2d 12, 14 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971) (holding that the trial judge's employment as an assistant state attorney when the relator [defendant] was bound over for trial was not legally sufficient to warrant disqualification: "It was

disclosed that the respondent, while so acting as assistant state attorney, had no dealings or contact with the prosecution proceeding involving the relator."). Thus, this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling and Appellant's sentence of death.

ISSUE II

WHETHER APPELLANT WAS DENIED AN OPPORTUNITY TO EXPLORE AND PRESENT MENTAL MITIGATING EVIDENCE (Restated).

Prior to trial, the State moved to have Appellant evaluated by its own expert, Dr. McKinley Cheshire, so that it could fairly rebut any mental mitigating evidence that Appellant presented during his resentencing. (R 72-74). Defense counsel moved for the appointment of Dr. Sheldon Rifkin as a confidential expert, who had been appointed as a confidential expert at Appellant's original trial. (R 199-200). After extensive discussion, the trial court granted the State's motion and authorized Dr. Cheshire to interview Appellant. (R 259-61; T 1039-55). The trial court denied, however, defense counsel's motion to appoint Dr. Rifkin as a confidential expert because Dr. Rifkin's original report had been admitted into evidence at Appellant's federal evidentiary hearing in 1988. (T 1039-55, 1077-96). As a result, defense counsel requested the appointment of another confidential expert, but the trial court ruled that Appellant had already had the benefit of two--Dr. Rifkin during his original trial and Dr. Harry Krop during his postconviction proceedings -- and denied defense counsel's motion for a third one. (R 317-19, 541; T 1092-96, 1197-1222). However, the trial court appointed Dr. Rifkin as a defense expert, although not on a confidential basis, which meant that the State and/or its own expert could attend Dr. Rifkin's examination of Appellant. (R 428-29; T 1222-26).

Several weeks later, the State called an emergency hearing and moved for sanctions against Appellant for his refusal, pursuant to

defense counsel's advice, to answer questions posed by the State's expert at his authorized mental status evaluation. (R 347-61; 1243-45). According to Dr. Cheshire, Appellant refused to answer questions relating to any events occurring between April 25, 1982, and May 5, 1982, and relating to any prior criminal activities. (T 1263-70). Defense counsel responded that Appellant had yet to be examined by his own expert, and that defense counsel would probably limit Dr. Rifkin's examination similarly. (T 1252-53). The State argued, however, that Dr. Rifkin could still rely on Dr. Krop's evaluation from 1988 during which Appellant discussed the facts of the crime and his previous criminal activities. (T 1253). The trial court ordered Appellant to answer all of the questions and explained to him the ramifications of refusing to do so. (T 1280-84).

The following Monday, April 19, 1993, the State informed the trial court that Appellant had persisted in his refusal to answer Dr. Cheshire's questions and asked the trial court to hold him in contempt. In addition, the State suggested that, if Appellant persisted in his refusal to answer Dr. Cheshire's questions, the trial court should prohibit the introduction of any mental mitigation by Dr. Rifkin or Dr. Krop on Appellant's behalf. (T 1285-92). In response to the trial court's questioning, defense counsel indicated that Appellant would never comply with the court's directive, and the trial court held Appellant in contempt of court, sentencing him to a consecutive five months and 28 days in jail. (T 1297-1301). When Appellant continued to refuse to comply, the trial court ruled that Dr. Rifkin would be allowed to

testify on Appellant's behalf only if his evaluation of Appellant were similarly limited, or, if not so limited, if Dr. Cheshire were allowed to fully examine Appellant. (T 1309-13).

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